
Final 
 
 

 
 

CARSON CITY AIRPORT 
AUTHORITY MEETING AGENDA 

 

Tuesday, May 21, 2024 – 5:30 P.M. 
 

Public Meeting at: 
Carson City Airport Terminal 

2600 E. College Parkway 
Carson City, Nevada 

This Agenda Prepared by Corey Jenkins, Airport Manager 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL, AND DETERMINATION OF QUORUM. 
 

B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

C. APPROVAL   OF THE   MINUTES   OF PAST   MEETINGS   OF THE AIRPORT 
AUTHORITY. 

 
D. MODIFICATION OF THE AGENDA.  The Chairman reserves the right to modify 

the agenda in order to most effectively process the agenda items. Items may be taken out 
of order; Items may be combined for consideration by the Authority; Items may be pulled 
or removed from the agenda at any time. 

 
E. PUBLIC COMMENT. Members of the public who wish to address the Airport 

Authority may speak on agendized and non-agendized matters related to the Airport. 
Comments are limited to three (3) minutes per person or topic. If your item requires 
extended discussion, please request the Chairman to calendar the matter for a future 
Airport Authority meeting. 

 
1. The public may provide public comment in advance of a meeting by written 

submission to the following email address: Manager@flycarsoncity.com. For 
inclusion or reference in the minutes of the meeting, your public comment must 
include your full name & address and be submitted via email by not later than 5:00 
p.m. the day before the meeting. The Carson City Airport Authority values your 
input.  Members of the public who wish to provide live public comment may do so 
during the designated public comment periods, indicated on the agenda in person. 

 
******************************************************************************* 

 
F. AIRPORT ENGINEER’S REPORT (Non-Action Item). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Final 
 
 

 
 

G. CONSENT AGENDA 
 

1. FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: REVIEW AND DISCUSS 
CHANGE, IF ANY, TO THE TENTATIVE FY 2024-2025 FINAL BUDGET 
AND ADOPTION OF THE RESULTING FINAL BUDGET (C. Jenkins, J. 
Rogers)     
 
Staff Summary: This is the public hearing of FY 24-25 CCAA final budget. A 
tentative budget was filed with the Nevada Department of Taxation and was 
approved at the March 20, 2024, Carson City Airport Authority board meeting.  
There are no changes from the tentative budget. 
 

2. FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: APPROVE A LEASE 
AMENDMENT FOR AT&T WIRELESS SERVICES, INC. FOR THE 
ADDITION AND MODIFICATOIN OF EQUIPMENT.  
 
Staff Summary: AT&T would like to install some new equipment on the beacon 
tower and that will require an amended lease.  
 

H. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

1. FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION:  APPROVE THE PROPOSED 
PARCEL MAP AND THE SEPARATION OF THE FIRE DEPARTMENT 
LAND (PARCEL 2) FROM THE AIRPORT PARCEL (PARCEL 1). 
 
Staff Summary: The city would like to separate the fire department land from the 
airport parcel.  Prior to the formation of the Airport Authority under NRS 844, 
the fire department area and Airport area overlapped. This Action is to correct 
the parcels so that the fire department is not on the Airport but remains City 
property adjacent to the Airport. The Fire Department area is already excluded 
on the Airport Master Plan and the Airport Layout Plan.   
 

2. FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: APPROVE A 
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING WITH THE FEDERAL AVIATION 
ADMINISTRATION (FAA) FOR THE INSTALLATION OF FAA WEATHER 
CAMERAS ON THE AIRPORT OWNED AUTOMATED WEATHER 
OBSERVATION SYSTEM (AWOS) TOWER.   
 
Staff Summary: When wildfire smoke is present at the airport, the AWOS visibility 
sensor reports visibility incorrectly.  The FAA Weather Camera system will 
provide pilots with visual references so they can determine visibility during any 
conditions that will affect visibility.  The Memorandum of Understanding is to 
allow the FAA to mount the cameras on the AWOS tower.    
 



Final 
 
 

 
 

3. FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: APPROVE THE 
AGREEMENT TO EXTEND TIME AND AVOID LEASE TERMINATION 
WITH CARSON TAHOE EXECUTIVE, LLC (CTE). 
 
Staff Summary: CTE has made a considerable effort to develop the parcels APN 
005-02-105 and 005-02-106 according to the agreement to postpone or avoid 
lease termination.  More time than what was originally allotted is required to 
accommodate their development plans.  Approving the additional time is mutually 
beneficial for CTE and the Airport. 
 

I. AIRPORT MANAGER’S REPORT (Non-Action Item). 

J. LEGAL COUNSEL’S REPORT (Non-Action Item). 

K. TREASURER’S REPORT (Non-Action Item). 
 

L. REPORT FROM AUTHORITY MEMBERS (Non-Action Item). 
1. Status review of projects 
2. Internal communications and administrative matters 
3. Correspondence to the Authority 
4. Status reports and comments from the members of the Authority 

 
M. PUBLIC COMMENT.  Members of the public who wish to address the Airport 

Authority may speak about items discussed on the agenda related to the Airport. 
Comments are limited to three (3) minutes per person or topic.  If your item requires 
extended discussion, please request the Chairman to calendar the matter for a future 
Airport Authority meeting. 

 
N. AGENDA ITEMS FOR NEXT REGULAR MEETING (Non-Action Item). 

O. ACTION ON ADJOURNMENT. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Final 
 
 

 
 

*     *     *     *    * 
 

DELIVERED (via E-Mail) to the FOLLOWING LOCATIONS for POSTING by 9am, May 16, 2024 
 

The Carson City Airport Website https://flycarsoncity.com/ 
State of Nevada Public Notice Website https://notice.nv.gov 
Airport Terminal Building 
 

2600 College Parkway 
Carson City, NV 

Mountain West Aviation 2101 Arrowhead Dr. 
Carson City, NV 

Stellar Aviation of Carson City, LLC 2640 College Parkway 
Carson City, NV 

~ Distribution made to others per request and as noted on the Airport Authority Distribution List ~ 
 

Supporting materials will be posted to the Carson City Airport website www.flycarsoncity.com as 
available, and can be obtained upon request from the Airport Manager, 2600 E. College Parkway #6, 
Carson City, NV 

 
NOTE:   The Airport Authority is pleased to make reasonable accommodations for the public who are 
disabled and wish to attend this meeting.  If special arrangements for the meeting are necessary, please notify the 
Airport Authority at (775) 841-2255 or cjenkins@flycarsoncity.com  

 
Notice: NRS 241.020(3)(b) states that a request for mailed notice of meetings automatically lapses six 
months after it is made to the public body.  A separate written request is not required for each meeting 
although requests are limited to six months at a time. 

 
 

THE CARSON CITY AIRPORT AUTHORITY ENCOURAGES WRITTEN COMMENTS FROM THE 
PUBLIC. Comments should be addressed to the Airport Manager, and sent to the following address: 

 

Carson City Airport Authority 2600 E. College Parkway #6, Carson City, Nevada 89706 
 



DRAFT MINUTES 
Regular Meeting  

Carson City Airport Authority (CCAA) 
April 17, 2024  5:30 PM 

Community Center Robert “Bob” Crowell Board Room 
851 East William Street, Carson City, Nevada    

  

 
 

 

 Page 1  
  

      
       Authority Members 

 Chair – Tim Puliz   Vice Chair – Harlow Norvell 
 Treasurer – Jon Rogers  Member – Curtis Horton   

  Member – Paul Hamilton  Member – Karl Hutter 
   Member – Michael Golden 
 
 

                                    Staff  
   Corey Jenkins – Airport Manager 

Steve Tackes – Airport Counsel 
Briana Munoz – Public Meetings Clerk  

  
NOTE:  A recording of these proceedings, the Board’s agenda materials, and any written comments or 
documentation provided to the recording secretary during the meeting are public record.  These materials are on 
file in the Clerk-Recorder’s Office, and available for review during regular business hours. 
 
Audio recordings and the meeting minutes of the Carson City Airport Authority meetings are available on 
https://www.carson.org/government/city-meetings.  
 
A. CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL, AND DETERMINATION OF QUORUM  

(5:31:14) – Chairperson Puliz called the meeting to order at 5:31 p.m. 

(5:31:28) – Roll was called, and a quorum was present.  

 
B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

(5:31:50) – Led by Vice Chair Norvell. 

C. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF PAST MEETINGS OF THE AIRPORT AUTHORITY. 

Attendee Name Status Arrived 
Chairperson Tim Puliz Present  
Vice Chair Harlow Norvell Present  
Treasurer Jon Rogers Present  
Member Michael Golden Present  
Member Paul Hamilton Present  
Member Curtis Horton Present   
Member Karl Hutter Present  



Draft Minutes Carson City Airport Authority                                      April 17, 2024 
 

 
 

 

 Page 2  
  

(5:32:12) – Chairperson Puliz introduced the item and entertained comments, changes, and/or a motion to approve 
the minutes of the March 20, 2024 meeting.  

(5:32:25) – MOTION: Treasurer Rogers moved to approve the minutes of the March 20, 2024 meeting. Vice 
Chair Norvell seconded the motion. The motion carried 7-0-0. 

 

 

 

 

 

D. MODIFICATION OF THE AGENDA. 

None. 

E. PUBLIC COMMENT 

(5:33:00) – Chairperson Puliz entertained public comments. Deni French introduced himself as a Carson City 
resident and inquired about the use of lead fuels in airplanes. Vice Chair Norvell suggested that any concerns 
regarding airport operations be directed to Mr. Jenkins for detailed explanations.  

(5:37:23) – Michaela Flint introduced herself as a flight instructor with Sport Aviation Center and expressed 
appreciation for assistance received from the Carson City Airport crew during a flat tire incident. Additionally, Ms. 
Flint thanked Mr. Jenkins for his responsiveness and efforts in addressing a potential runway incursion incident.  

F. AIRPORT ENGINEER’S REPORT 

(5:38:50) – Chairperson Puliz introduced the item. Wood Rodgers Representative Brian Martinezmoles presented 
his report, which is incorporated into the record.  

(5:39:12) – Mr. Jenkins provided an update on the Offset PAPI Nighttime Approach and the Snow Removal 
Equipment Building. 

G. CONSENT AGENDA 

(5:40:13) – Chair Puliz introduced the items, entertained requests to pull items from the Consent Agenda, and 
entertained a motion. 

(5:40:42) – MOTION: Member Golden moved to approve the consent agenda as presented. Member 
Hamilton seconded the motion. The motion carried 6-0-1 with Member Hamilton abstaining due to a conflict 
of interest with Consent Agenda Item G. 1 involving Sport Aviation Center.  

RESULT:  APPROVED (7-0-0) 
MOVER:  Rogers 
SECONDER:  Norvell 
AYES:   Puliz, Norvell, Rogers, Golden, Hamilton, Horton, Hutter 
NAYS:   None 
ABSTENTIONS None 
ABSENT:  None 



Draft Minutes Carson City Airport Authority                                      April 17, 2024 
 

 
 

 

 Page 3  
  

 

 

 

 

 

 1.  DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: TO APPROVE THE REQUEST BY SPORT 
AVIATION CENTER TO EXPAND ITS CLASS II FBO CAPABILITIES TO MARKET FOR AIRCRAFT 
SALES.  

 2.  DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: APPROVE LEASE ASSIGNMENT FROM THE 
BYARD FAMILY TRUST TO JEFFREY G. BYARD. 

  

H. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 1.  FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: APPROVE FAA AIRPORT CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENT PLAN (“ACIP”) 2024 – 2025. 

(5:41:03) – Chairperson Puliz introduced the item. Mr. Jenkins referenced the Board Memo and the Airport Capital 
Improvement Plan (ACIP), both of which are incorporated into the record. He added that the ACIP does not 
guarantee funding but provides a plan for the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA). Mr. Jenkins and Mr. 
Martinezmoles responded to clarifying questions regarding the pavement rehabilitation and the runway extension 
projects.   

(5:52:38) – MOTION: Member Hutter moved to approve the 2024 – 2025 Airport Capital Improvement Plan 
as presented. Vice Chair Norvell seconded the motion. The motion carried 7-0-0.  

 
 

 

 

 

 2.  FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: REVIEW AND APPROVE AIRPORT 
EMERGENCY PLAN REVISION. 

RESULT:  APPROVED (7-0-0) 
MOVER:  Hutter 
SECONDER:  Norvell 
AYES:   Puliz, Norvell, Rogers, Golden, Hamilton, Horton, Hutter 
NAYS:   None 
ABSTENTIONS None 
ABSENT:  None 

RESULT:  APPROVED (6-0-1) 
MOVER:  Golden 
SECONDER:  Hamilton 
AYES:   Puliz, Norvell, Rogers, Golden, Horton, Hutter 
NAYS:   None 
ABSTENTIONS Hamilton 
ABSENT:  None 



Draft Minutes Carson City Airport Authority                                      April 17, 2024 
 

 
 

 

 Page 4  
  

(5:53:21) – Chairperson Puliz introduced the item. Mr. Jenkins referenced the Board Memo and the Airport 
Emergency Plan Revision, both of which are incorporated into the record, and went over the revisions to the plan.  

(5:55:02) – Member Golden commented that the plan was well thought-out and encouraged the Board to approve 
the plan as presented. He recommended creating a one-page summary that highlighted the most critical information 
from the plan. Mr. Jenkins noted that Appendix A of the plan included an initial response checklist and thanked 
Member Golden for the suggestion, stating that it would be implemented.  

(5:57:31) – Member Horton highlighted the importance of annual training and review of the Airport Emergency 
Plan for employees.  

(5:57:41) – Chairperson Puliz stated that the Airport Emergency Plan was thorough and well-written, stating that 
he fully supported it.  

(5:58:10) – Member Hamilton expressed appreciation for the inclusion of Appendix A and noted that the checklist 
was not numbered. In response to Member Hamilton’s question, Mr. Jenkins clarified that the redacted phone 
numbers in Appendix A were personal phone numbers. Member Hamilton added that he fully supported the plan.  

(6:00:04) – MOTION: Vice Chair Norvell moved to approve the revision of the Airport Emergency Plan. 
Member Golden seconded the motion. The motion carried 7-0-0. 

 

 

 

 

 

 I. AIRPORT MANAGER’S REPORT 

(6:00:28) – Chairperson Puliz introduced the item. Mr. Jenkins provided his report, which is incorporated into the 
record. Additionally, Mr. Jenkins went over Fuel Flowage and Airport Operations reports, both of which are 
incorporated into the record.  

(6:05:48) – In response to Chairperson Puliz’s question, Mr. Jenkins clarified that a special meeting would be held 
May 21, 2024 at 5:30 p.m. for approval of the final budget. Mr. Jenkins inquired if the Board should still hold its 
regular meeting on May 15, 2024 and Chairperson Puliz suggested only holding one meeting.  

J. LEGAL COUNSEL’S REPORT 

(6:08:12) – Chairperson Puliz introduced the item. Mr. Tackes did not have any additional items to report.  

RESULT:  APPROVED (7-0-0) 
MOVER:  Norvell 
SECONDER:  Golden 
AYES:   Puliz, Norvell, Rogers, Golden, Hamilton, Horton, Hutter 
NAYS:   None 
ABSTENTIONS None 
ABSENT:  None 



Draft Minutes Carson City Airport Authority                                      April 17, 2024 
 

 
 

 

 Page 5  
  

K.  TREASURER’S REPORT 

(6:08:22) – Chairperson Puliz introduced the item. Treasurer Rogers noted that the Airport was ending the fiscal 
year in good shape. 

L. REPORT FROM AUTHORITY MEMBERS 

1. STATUS REVIEW OF PROJECTS 

2. INTERNAL COMMUNICATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 

3. CORRESPONDENCE TO THE AUTHORITY 

4. STATUS REPORTS AND COMMENTS FROM THE MEMBERS OF THE AUTHORITY 

(6:09:25) – Chairperson Puliz entertained Member reports; however, none were forthcoming. 

M. PUBLIC COMMENT 

(6:09:30) – Chairperson Puliz entertained public comments; however, none were forthcoming.  

N. AGENDA ITEMS FOR NEXT REGULAR MEETING 

(6:09:42) – Chairperson Puliz entertained requests for agenda items for the next CCAA meeting; however, none 
were forthcoming.  

O. ACTION ON ADJOURNMENT 

(6:09:55) – MOTION: Chairperson Puliz adjourned the meeting at 6:09 p.m. 

The Minutes of the April 17, 2024 Carson City Airport Authority meeting are so approved on this 21st day of May 
2024.  





RE: Engineer's Report
Burgard, Nadine <nburgard@hwlochner.com>
Mon 5/13/2024 2:02 PM
To: Corey Jenkins <cJenkins@flycarsoncity.com> 
Hi Corey,
Regarding the PAPI project, we just completed another round of submittal review with Titan and I’ve
followed up with them for the updated schedule, they still haven’t provided new information on that front.
For the SRE building, I just talked with the buildings division again as there is still a lot of confusion (on
their end) what they are looking at when we submit corrections and responses… so I am still waiting on
a couple reviewers from the City to call me back and clarify some things, then the next step is for us to
re-compile the full plan set and specifications set for the City to review as (hopefully) the final effort.
Everyone I’ve spoken with at the City has been pretty helpful and I think they are trying but I think the
problem was that they’re not able to see clearly that when a document is submitted that it’s a direct
response to one of their comments. So they leave a comment as “Not Resolved” because they don’t
know which PDF is the response to which request, and then don’t communicate further.
Apologies for this taking so long. Even the contractor has been calling every week trying to get some
answers and we just now are getting a clear direction from them how to move forward.
As always, let me know if any questions come up.
 
Thanks,
Nadine
 
NADINE C. BURGARD, P.E.
Nevada Market Lead
Armstrong Consultants, Inc., a Lochner Company
1575 Delucchi Lane, Suite 219, Reno, NV 89502
O: 775.346.3010    D: 775.346.3011   C: 775.230.8884
 
From: Corey Jenkins <cJenkins@flycarsoncity.com>
Sent: Monday, May 13, 2024 9:50 AM
To: Burgard, Nadine <nburgard@hwlochner.com>
Subject: Engineer's Report
 

 

[EXTERNAL EMAIL] This is an external email. **NEVER CLICK or OPEN** unexpected links or
attachments. **NEVER** provide User ID or Password. If this email seems suspicious, forward
the email to spam for inspection.

 
Nadine,
 
Please provide a progress report on the ongoing projects for the board meeting.
 
Hopefully, we can get some good news about some forward progress.
 
Thanks,
 
Corey Jenkins, ACE
Airport Manager
Carson City Airport
2600 College Parkway #6
Carson City, NV 89706
775-841-2255
www.flycarsoncity.com
 
 

5/17/24, 2:27 PM Engineer's Report

https://outlook.office.com/mail/deeplink/protocolActivation?nativeVersion=1.2024.403.300&key=67147668-fc64-af42-9538-20cd025ca941&fileExt=.ms… 1/2



____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo

CCAA BOARD MEMO Agenda Item: G-1

BOARD MEMO  2024-12   Meeting Date: May 21, 2024 

Agenda Title: FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: REVIEW AND 
DISCUSS CHANGE, IF ANY, TO THE TENTATIVE FY 2024-2025 FINAL 
BUDGET AND ADOPTION OF THE RESULTING FINAL BUDGET (C. 
Jenkins, J. Rogers)  

Staff Summary: This is the public hearing of FY 23-24 CCAA final budget. A 
tentative budget was filed with the Nevada Department of Taxation and was 
approved at the March 15, 2023, Carson City Airport Authority board meeting.

Agenda Action: Formal Action/Motion  Time Requested: 0 Minutes

Proposed Motion

I move to approve the FY 24/25 Final Budget 

CCAA’S Strategic Goal

Maintain financial stability.

Previous Action and Executive Summary

February 21, 2024 (Item H-2) – First review of Preliminary Budget

March 20, 2024 (Item H-1) - Second review of Preliminary Budget

  



____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo 

Financial Information 
 
Is there a fiscal impact? 

 No    Yes 
 
If yes, account name/number & amount: 
 
General Fund/ Federal Share: 
  
Is it currently budgeted? 
 
Alternatives 
 
Do not approve. 
 
Board Action Taken: 
 
Motion: ____________________________ 1) _________________________     

2) _________________________      
 

Aye/Nay 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
___________________________ 
   (Vote Recorded By) 



Nevada Department of Taxation
1550 College Parkway, Suite 115
Carson City, NV  89706-7937

herewith submits the (Final) budget for the
June 30, 2025

This budget contains 0 funds, including Debt Service, requiring property tax revenues totaling $

The property tax rates computed herein are based on preliminary data.  If the final state computed revenue limitation permits, 
the tax rate will be increased by an amount not to exceed 1%.  If the final computation requires, the tax rate will be
lowered.

This budget contains 1 governmental fund types with estimated expenditures of $ and
0 proprietary funds with estimated expenses of $ 0

Copies of this budget have been filed for public record and inspection in the offices enumerated in NRS 354.596 (Local 
Government Budget and Finance Act).

CERTIFICATION

I           (Signature by Docusign is acceptable)
 (Print Name)

(Title)
certify that all applicable funds and financial
operations of this Local Government are
listed herein

Signed:

Dated:  

Phone:  

SCHEDULED PUBLIC HEARING:
  (Must be held from May 15, 2023 to May 31, 2024)

Place:  

Page: ______
Schedule 1

Harlow Norvell - Member

fiscal year ending 

2,756,128

Curtis Horton - Member

Michael Golden - Chair

Paul Hamilton - Member

Airport Authority of Carson City, Nevada

0

Treasurer

APPROVED BY THE GOVERNING BOARD

2600 E College Pkwy #6, Carson City, NV 89706

Only necessary for FINAL Budget

Carson City Airport Terminal Building

May 21, 2024 at 5:30 PM

Tim Puliz - Vice Chair

Date and Time: 5/11/2024

Jon Rogers

Publication Date:

Karl Hutter - Member

FORM 4404LGF Last Revised 1/3/23



Bu
dg

et
 S

um
m

ar
y 

fo
r 

Sc
he

du
le

 S
-1

   
   

   
  G

O
VE

R
N

M
EN

TA
L 

FU
N

D
 T

YP
ES

 A
N

D
   

   
   

   
   

  E
XP

EN
D

AB
LE

 T
R

U
ST

 F
U

N
D

S
ES

TI
M

AT
ED

PR
O

PR
IE

TA
R

Y
TO

TA
L

AC
TU

AL
 P

R
IO

R
C

U
R

R
EN

T
BU

D
G

ET
FU

N
D

S
(M

EM
O

 O
N

LY
)

YE
AR

 6
/3

0/
20

23
YE

AR
 6

/3
0/

20
24

YE
AR

 6
/3

0/
20

25
BU

D
G

ET
C

O
LU

M
N

S 
3+

4
R

EV
EN

U
ES

(1
)

(2
)

(3
)

YE
AR

 6
/3

0/
20

25
(5

)
(4

)
  P

ro
pe

rty
 T

ax
es

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

  O
th

er
 T

ax
es

  L
ic

en
se

s 
an

d 
Pe

rm
its

  I
nt

er
go

ve
rn

m
en

ta
l R

es
ou

rc
es

75
2,

53
6

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
2,

63
1,

15
9

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

2,
06

2,
25

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
2,

06
2,

25
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

  C
ha

rg
es

 fo
r S

er
vi

ce
s

  F
in

es
 a

nd
 F

or
fe

its
  M

is
ce

lla
ne

ou
s

67
4,

21
9

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
62

4,
66

5
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

99
3,

04
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
99

3,
04

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

   
  T

O
TA

L 
R

EV
EN

U
ES

1,
42

6,
75

5
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
3,

25
5,

82
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

3,
05

5,
29

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
3,

05
5,

29
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

EX
PE

N
D

IT
U

R
ES

-E
XP

EN
SE

S
  G

en
er

al
 G

ov
er

nm
en

t
1,

00
9,

13
6

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

3,
39

7,
68

6
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
2,

75
6,

12
8

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

2,
75

6,
12

8
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
  J

ud
ic

ia
l

  P
ub

lic
 S

af
et

y
  P

ub
lic

 W
or

ks
  S

an
ita

tio
n

  H
ea

lth
  W

el
fa

re
  C

ul
tu

re
 a

nd
 R

ec
re

at
io

n
  C

om
m

un
ity

 S
up

po
rt

  I
nt

er
go

ve
rn

m
en

ta
l E

xp
en

di
tu

re
s

  C
on

tin
ge

nc
ie

s
  U

til
ity

 E
nt

er
pr

is
es

  H
os

pi
ta

ls
  T

ra
ns

it 
Sy

st
em

s
  A

irp
or

ts
  O

th
er

 E
nt

er
pr

is
es

  D
eb

t S
er

vi
ce

 - 
Pr

in
ci

pa
l

12
,7

34
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

   
   

   
   

 In
te

re
st

 C
os

t
1,

03
7

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

  T
O

TA
L 

EX
PE

N
D

IT
U

R
ES

-E
XP

EN
SE

S
1,

02
2,

90
7

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

3,
39

7,
68

6
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
2,

75
6,

12
8

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

2,
75

6,
12

8
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
  E

xc
es

s 
of

 R
ev

en
ue

s 
ov

er
 (u

nd
er

)
  E

xp
en

di
tu

re
s-

Ex
pe

ns
es

40
3,

84
8

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
(1

41
,8

62
)

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
29

9,
16

2
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

29
9,

16
2

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  

Pa
ge

: _
__

__
_

Sc
he

du
le

 S
-1

Ai
rp

or
t A

ut
ho

rit
y 

of
 C

ar
so

n 
C

ity
, N

ev
ad

a

FO
R

M
 4

40
4L

G
F

  L
as

t R
ev

is
ed

 5
/1

7/
20

24



Bu
dg

et
 S

um
m

ar
y 

fo
r 

Sc
he

du
le

 S
-1

   
   

   
G

O
VE

R
N

M
EN

TA
L 

FU
N

D
 T

YP
ES

 A
N

D
   

   
   

   
   

EX
PE

N
D

AB
LE

 T
R

U
ST

 F
U

N
D

S
ES

TI
M

AT
ED

PR
O

PR
IE

TA
R

Y
TO

TA
L

AC
TU

AL
 P

R
IO

R
C

U
R

R
EN

T
BU

D
G

ET
FU

N
D

S
(M

EM
O

 O
N

LY
)

YE
AR

 6
/3

0/
20

23
YE

AR
 6

/3
0/

20
24

YE
AR

 6
/3

0/
20

25
BU

D
G

ET
C

O
LU

M
N

S 
3+

4
(1

)
(2

)
(3

)
YE

AR
 6

/3
0/

20
25

(5
)

(4
)

O
TH

ER
 F

IN
AN

C
IN

G
 S

O
U

R
C

ES
 (U

SE
S)

:
   

Pr
oc

ee
ds

 o
f L

on
g-

te
rm

 D
eb

t
   

Sa
le

s 
of

 G
en

er
al

 F
ix

ed
 A

ss
et

s

   
O

pe
ra

tin
g 

Tr
an

sf
er

s 
(in

)
   

O
pe

ra
tin

g 
Tr

an
sf

er
s 

(o
ut

)

TO
TA

L 
O

TH
ER

 F
IN

AN
C

IN
G

 S
O

U
R

C
ES

 (U
SE

S)
   

Ex
ce

ss
 o

f R
ev

en
ue

s 
an

d 
O

th
er

 S
ou

rc
es

 o
ve

r
(u

nd
er

) E
xp

en
di

tu
re

s 
an

d 
O

th
er

 U
se

s 
(N

et
 In

co
m

e)
40

3,
84

8
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

(1
41

,8
62

)
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

29
9,

16
2

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

FU
N

D
 B

AL
AN

C
E 

JU
LY

 1
, B

EG
IN

N
IN

G
 O

F 
YE

AR
1,

92
4,

79
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

2,
33

3,
02

3
   

   
   

   
   

   
2,

19
1,

16
1

   
   

   
   

   
   

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

   
Pr

io
r P

er
io

d 
Ad

ju
st

m
en

ts
4,

38
5

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
   

R
es

id
ua

l E
qu

ity
 T

ra
ns

fe
rs

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

FU
N

D
 B

AL
AN

C
E 

JU
N

E 
30

, E
N

D
 O

F 
YE

AR
2,

33
3,

02
3

   
   

   
   

   
   

2,
19

1,
16

1
   

   
   

   
   

   
2,

49
0,

32
3

   
   

   
   

   
   

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

TO
TA

L 
EN

D
IN

G
 F

U
N

D
 B

AL
AN

C
E

2,
33

3,
02

3
   

   
   

   
   

   
2,

19
1,

16
1

   
   

   
   

   
   

2,
49

0,
32

3
   

   
   

   
   

   
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX

Pa
ge

: _
__

__
_

Sc
he

du
le

 S
-1

Ai
rp

or
t A

ut
ho

rit
y 

of
 C

ar
so

n 
C

ity
, N

ev
ad

a

FO
R

M
 4

40
4L

G
F

  L
as

t R
ev

is
ed

 5
/1

7/
20

24



FULL TIME EQUIVALENT EMPLOYEES BY FUNCTION

ACTUAL ESTIMATED
PRIOR YEAR CURRENT YEAR BUDGET YEAR

YEAR 6/30/2023 YEAR 6/30/2024 YEAR 6/30/2025
General Government
Judicial
Public Safety
Public Works
Sanitation
Health
Welfare
Culture and Recreation
Community Support

TOTAL GENERAL GOVERNMENT
Utilities
Hospitals
Transit Systems
Airports 2 4 4
Other

TOTAL

POPULATION (AS OF JULY 1)
57,073 58,314 58,923

SOURCE OF POPULATION ESTIMATE* State Certified State Certified State Certified

Assessed Valuation (Secured and Unsecured Only) 2,075,625,383 2,332,697,425 2,545,236,822
Net Proceeds of Mines
TOTAL ASSESSED VALUE

TAX RATE
  General Fund
  Special Revenue Funds
  Capital Projects Funds
  Debt Service Funds
  Enterprise Fund
  Other

TOTAL TAX RATE

* Use the population certified by the state in March each year.  Small districts may use a number   
developed per the instructions (page 6) or the best information available.

Airport Authority of Carson City, Nevada
(Local Government)

   SCHEDULE S-2 - STATISTICAL DATA

Page: ______
Schedule S-2

FORM 4404LGF   Last Revised 5/17/2024



SC
H

ED
U

LE
 A

 - 
ES

TI
M

AT
ED

 R
EV

EN
U

ES
 &

 O
TH

ER
 R

ES
O

U
R

C
ES

 - 
G

O
VE

R
N

M
EN

TA
L 

FU
N

D
 T

YP
ES

, E
XP

EN
D

AB
LE

 T
R

U
ST

 F
U

N
D

S 
& 

TA
X 

SU
PP

O
R

TE
D

 P
R

O
PR

IE
TA

R
Y 

FU
N

D
 T

YP
ES

B
ud

ge
t F

or
 F

is
ca

l Y
ea

r E
nd

in
g 

Ju
ne

 3
0,

 2
02

5
Bu

dg
et

 S
um

m
ar

y 
fo

r 
Ai

rp
or

t A
ut

ho
rit

y 
of

 C
ar

so
n 

C
ity

, N
ev

ad
a

(L
oc

al
 G

ov
er

nm
en

t)

O
TH

ER
FI

N
AN

C
IN

G
G

O
VE

R
N

M
EN

TA
L 

FU
N

D
S 

AN
D

SO
U

R
C

ES
EX

PE
N

D
AB

LE
 T

R
U

ST
 F

U
N

D
S

BE
G

IN
N

IN
G

PR
O

PE
R

TY
O

TH
ER

 T
H

AN
FU

N
D

C
O

N
SO

LI
D

AT
ED

TA
X

TA
X

O
TH

ER
TR

AN
SF

ER
S

O
PE

R
AT

IN
G

FU
N

D
 N

AM
E

BA
LA

N
C

ES
TA

X 
R

EV
EN

U
E

R
EQ

U
IR

ED
R

AT
E

R
EV

EN
U

E
IN

TR
AN

SF
ER

S 
IN

TO
TA

L
(1

)
(2

)
(3

)
(4

)
(5

)
(6

)
(7

)
(8

)
G

en
er

al
2,

19
1,

16
1

   
   

   
   

   
   

3,
05

5,
29

0
   

   
   

5,
24

6,
45

1
   

   
   

   
   

   

D
EB

T 
SE

R
VI

C
E

Su
bt

ot
al

 G
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l F
un

d 
Ty

pe
s,

Ex
pe

nd
ab

le
 T

ru
st

 F
un

ds
2,

19
1,

16
1

   
   

   
   

   
   

3,
05

5,
29

0
   

   
   

5,
24

6,
45

1
   

   
   

   
   

   

PR
O

PR
IE

TA
R

Y 
FU

N
D

S
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

X
XX

XX
XX

XX
X

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
X

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
X

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
X

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
X

XX
XX

XX
XX

X
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

X
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

X
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

X
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

X
XX

XX
XX

XX
X

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
X

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
X

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
X

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
X

XX
XX

XX
XX

X
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

X
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

X
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

X
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

X
XX

XX
XX

XX
X

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
X

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
X

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
X

Su
bt

ot
al

 P
ro

pr
ie

ta
ry

 F
un

ds
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

X
XX

XX
XX

XX
X

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
X

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
X

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
X

TO
TA

L 
AL

L 
FU

N
D

S
XX

XX
XX

XX
XX

X
XX

XX
XX

XX
X

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
X

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
X

XX
XX

XX
XX

XX
X

Pa
ge

: _
__

__
_

Sc
he

du
le

 A

FO
R

M
 4

40
4L

G
F

  L
as

t R
ev

is
ed

 5
/1

7/
20

24



SC
H

ED
U

LE
 A

-1
 E

ST
IM

AT
ED

 E
XP

EN
D

IT
U

R
ES

 A
N

D
 O

TH
ER

 F
IN

AN
C

IN
G

 U
SE

S

B
ud

ge
t F

or
 F

is
ca

l Y
ea

r E
nd

in
g 

Ju
ne

 3
0,

 2
02

5
Bu

dg
et

 S
um

m
ar

y 
fo

r
(L

oc
al

 G
ov

er
nm

en
t)

SE
R

VI
C

ES
,

C
O

N
TI

N
G

EN
C

IE
S

SU
PP

LI
ES

AN
D

 U
SE

S
G

O
VE

R
N

M
EN

TA
L 

FU
N

D
S 

AN
D

AN
D

O
TH

ER
 T

H
AN

EX
PE

N
D

AB
LE

 T
R

U
ST

 F
U

N
D

S
SA

LA
R

IE
S

O
TH

ER
C

AP
IT

AL
O

PE
R

AT
IN

G
O

PE
R

AT
IN

G
AN

D
EM

PL
O

YE
E

C
H

AR
G

ES
O

U
TL

AY
TR

AN
SF

ER
S

TR
AN

SF
ER

S
EN

D
IN

G
 F

U
N

D
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

FU
N

D
 N

AM
E

W
AG

ES
BE

N
EF

IT
S

**
**

*
O

U
T

O
U

T
BA

LA
N

C
ES

TO
TA

L
*

(1
)

(2
)

(3
)

(4
)

(5
)

(6
)

(7
)

(8
)

G
en

er
al

-
29

4,
50

0
15

1,
14

5
44

7,
65

2
1,

84
9,

33
3

2,
49

0,
32

3
   

   
   

   
   

  
5,

23
2,

95
3

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
  

D
eb

t S
er

vi
ce

   
 L

ea
se

 T
ra

ns
ac

tio
n 

- M
ay

es
D

6,
24

0
6,

24
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
   

 L
ea

se
 T

ra
ns

ac
tio

n 
- G

on
za

le
s

D
7,

25
8

7,
25

8
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

TO
TA

L 
G

O
VE

R
N

M
EN

TA
L 

FU
N

D
 T

YP
ES

AN
D

 E
XP

EN
D

AB
LE

 T
R

U
ST

 F
U

N
D

S
29

4,
50

0
   

   
   

  
15

1,
14

5
   

   
   

   
46

1,
15

0
   

   
   

  
1,

84
9,

33
3

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

2,
49

0,
32

3
   

   
   

   
   

  
5,

24
6,

45
1

   
   

   
   

   
   

* F
U

N
D

 T
YP

ES
:  

   
  R

 - 
Sp

ec
ia

l R
ev

en
ue

C
 - 

C
ap

ita
l P

ro
je

ct
s

D
 - 

D
eb

t S
er

vi
ce

T 
- E

xp
en

da
bl

e 
Tr

us
t

**
 In

cl
ud

e 
D

eb
t S

er
vi

ce
 R

eq
ui

re
m

en
ts

 in
 th

is
 c

ol
um

n
Pa

ge
: _

__
__

_
**

* C
ap

ita
l O

ut
la

y 
m

us
t a

gr
ee

 w
ith

 C
IP

.
Sc

he
du

le
 A

-1

Ai
rp

or
t A

ut
ho

rit
y 

of
 C

ar
so

n 
C

ity
, N

ev
ad

a

FO
R

M
 4

40
4L

G
F

  L
as

t R
ev

is
ed

 5
/1

7/
20

24



(1) (2) (3) (4)

ESTIMATED
ACTUAL PRIOR CURRENT

REVENUES YEAR ENDING YEAR ENDING TENTATIVE FINAL 
YEAR 6/30/2023 YEAR 6/30/2024 APPROVED APPROVED

Intergovernmental Revenue
     Personal Property Tax 339,911             345,965             365,000             
     Grant Income 396,883             2,285,194          1,697,250          
Miscellaneous
     Leases 225,957             393,240             445,240             
     Interest 334,308             80,000               380,000             
     Tie Downs 10,049               10,000               8,000                 
     Fuel Flowage Fees 16,594               18,000               20,000               
     Gate Cards 525                    2,000                 2,000                 
     Parking 200                    425                    300                    
     Jet Fuel Tax 883                    2,000                 4,000                 
     Through the Fence Fees 8,058                 8,000                 8,000                 
     Class II FBO Fees 4,650                 9,600                 10,000               
     Miscellaneous 2,384                 24,000               35,000               
     Open House 3,849                 5,000                 10,000               
     Rock Materials Sales 82,104               72,000               70,000               
     Terminal Rental 400                    400                    500                    

FUNCTION SUBTOTAL 1,426,755 3,255,824 3,055,290 0

Airport Authority of Carson City, Nevada

Page: ______
Schedule B-8

(Local Government)
SCHEDULE B - GENERAL FUND

BUDGET YEAR ENDING 06/30/25

FORM 4404LGF   Last Revised 5/17/2024



(1) (2) (3) (4)

ESTIMATED
ACTUAL PRIOR CURRENT

REVENUES YEAR ENDING YEAR ENDING TENTATIVE FINAL 
YEAR 6/30/2023 YEAR 6/30/2024 APPROVED APPROVED

SUBTOTAL REVENUE ALL SOURCES 1,426,755             3,255,824           3,055,290         
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
    Transfers In (Schedule T)

     Proceeds of Long-term Debt
     Other

SUBTOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 1,924,790             2,333,023           2,191,161         

     Prior Period Adjustments 4,385                    
     Residual Equity Transfers

TOTAL BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 1,924,790             2,333,023           2,191,161         -                       

TOTAL AVAILABLE RESOURCES 3,355,930             5,588,847           5,246,451         -                       

Airport Authority of Carson City, Nevada

Page: ______
Schedule B-9

(Local Government)
SCHEDULE B - GENERAL FUND

BUDGET YEAR ENDING 06/30/25

FORM 4404LGF   Last Revised 5/17/2024



(1) (2) (3) (4)

ESTIMATED
EXPENDITURES BY FUNCTION ACTUAL PRIOR CURRENT

AND ACTIVITY YEAR ENDING YEAR ENDING TENTATIVE FINAL 
YEAR 6/30/2023 YEAR 6/30/2024 APPROVED APPROVED

General Government
     Salaries & Wages 140,072              202,500              294,500              
     Employee Benefits 63,262                115,200              151,145              
     Services & Supplies 255,160              392,290              447,652              
     Capital Outlay 537,144              2,687,696           1,849,333           

Debt Service
     Principal 12,734                -                      -                      
     Interest 1,037                  -                      -                      
     Lease Transaction - Mayes 6,240                  6,240                  6,240                  
     Lease Transaction - Gonzales 7,258                  7,258                  7,258                  

FUNCTION SUBTOTAL 1,022,907           3,411,184           2,756,128           -                      

Airport Authority of Carson City, Nevada

FUNCTION

Page: ______
Schedule B-10

(Local Government)
SCHEDULE B - GENERAL FUND

BUDGET YEAR ENDING 06/30/25

FORM 4404LGF   Last Revised 5/17/2024



(1) (2) (3) (4)

ESTIMATED
ACTUAL PRIOR CURRENT
YEAR ENDING YEAR ENDING TENTATIVE FINAL 

6/30/2023 6/30/2024 APPROVED APPROVED
PAGE  FUNCTION SUMMARY

General Government 995,638                3,397,686            2,742,630         -                      
Judicial
Public Safety
Public Works
Sanitation
Health
Welfare
Culture and Recreation
Community Support
Debt Service 27,269                  13,498                 13,498              -                      
Intergovernmental Expenditures

TOTAL EXPENDITURES - ALL FUNCTIONS 1,022,907             3,411,184            2,756,128         -                      
OTHER USES: -                        -                       -                    -                      
CONTINGENCY (Not to exceed 3% of 
Total Expenditures all Functions)
Transfers Out (Schedule T)

TOTAL EXPENDITURES AND OTHER USES 1,022,907             3,411,184            2,756,128         -                      

ENDING FUND BALANCE: 2,333,023             2,191,161            2,490,323         

TOTAL GENERAL FUND
   COMMITMENTS AND FUND BALANCE 3,355,930             5,602,345            5,246,451         -                      

Airport Authority of Carson City, Nevada

                          SCHEDULE B SUMMARY - EXPENDITURES, OTHER USES AND FUND BALANCE

        GENERAL FUND - ALL FUNCTIONS

Page: ______
Schedule B-11

BUDGET YEAR ENDING 06/30/25

(Local Government)
SCHEDULE B - GENERAL FUND

EXPENDITURES BY FUNCTION
AND ACTIVITY

FORM 4404LGF   Last Revised 5/17/2024



AL
L 

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 O

R
 P

R
O

PO
SE

D
* -

 T
yp

e
6 

- M
ed

iu
m

-T
er

m
 F

in
an

ci
ng

 - 
Le

as
e 

Pu
rc

ha
se

G
EN

ER
AL

 O
BL

IG
AT

IO
N

 B
O

N
D

S,
 R

EV
EN

U
E 

BO
N

D
S,

1 
- G

en
er

al
 O

bl
ig

at
io

n 
Bo

nd
s

7 
- C

ap
ita

l L
ea

se
s

M
ED

IU
M

-T
ER

M
 F

IN
AN

C
IN

G
, C

AP
IT

AL
 L

EA
SE

S 
AN

D
2 

- G
.O

. R
ev

en
ue

 S
up

po
rte

d 
Bo

nd
s

8 
- S

pe
ci

al
 A

ss
es

sm
en

t B
on

ds
SP

EC
IA

L 
AS

SE
SS

M
EN

T 
BO

N
D

S
3 

- G
.O

. S
pe

ci
al

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t B

on
ds

9 
- M

or
tg

ag
es

4 
- R

ev
en

ue
 B

on
ds

10
 - 

O
th

er
 (S

pe
ci

fy
 T

yp
e)

5 
- M

ed
iu

m
-T

er
m

 F
in

an
ci

ng
11

 - 
Pr

op
os

ed
 (S

pe
ci

fy
 T

yp
e)

(1
)

(2
)

(3
)

(4
)

(5
)

(6
)

(7
)

(8
)

(9
)

(1
0)

(1
1)

   
   

   
R

EQ
U

IR
EM

EN
TS

 F
O

R
 F

IS
C

AL
BE

G
IN

N
IN

G
(9

)+
(1

0)
O

R
IG

IN
AL

FI
N

AL
 

O
U

TS
TA

N
D

IN
G

N
AM

E 
O

F 
BO

N
D

 O
R

 L
O

AN
TY

PE
AM

O
U

N
T 

O
F

IS
SU

E
PA

YM
EN

T
IN

TE
R

ES
T

BA
LA

N
C

E
IN

TE
R

ES
T

PR
IN

C
IP

AL
Li

st
 a

nd
 S

ub
to

ta
l B

y 
Fu

nd
*

TE
R

M
IS

SU
E

D
AT

E
D

AT
E

R
AT

E
7/

1/
20

24
PA

YA
BL

E
PA

YA
BL

E
TO

TA
L

D
eb

t S
er

vi
ce

   
  L

ea
se

 T
ra

ns
ac

tio
n 

- M
ay

es
Lo

ng
-te

rm
 le

as
e 

re
ve

nu
e 

tra
ns

ac
tio

ns
50

 y
ea

rs
31

2,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
7/

1/
20

21
6/

30
/2

07
3

0%
16

4,
48

6
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
6,

24
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

6,
24

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

 

   
  L

ea
se

 T
ra

ns
ac

tio
n 

- G
on

za
le

s
Lo

ng
-te

rm
 le

as
e 

re
ve

nu
e 

tra
ns

ac
tio

ns
50

 y
ea

rs
36

2,
89

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
9/

1/
20

05
8/

31
/2

05
5

0%
22

6,
25

9
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
7,

25
8

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

7,
25

8
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

 

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

TO
TA

L 
AL

L 
D

EB
T 

SE
R

VI
C

E
39

0,
74

5
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
13

,4
98

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

  
13

,4
98

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

  

SC
H

ED
U

LE
 C

-1
 - 

IN
D

EB
TE

D
N

ES
S

Ai
rp

or
t A

ut
ho

rit
y 

of
 C

ar
so

n 
C

ity
, N

ev
ad

a
(L

oc
al

 G
ov

er
nm

en
t)

Pa
ge

: _
__

__
_

Sc
he

du
le

 C
-1

YE
AR

 E
N

D
IN

G
 0

6/
30

/2
5

FO
R

M
 4

40
4L

G
F

  L
as

t R
ev

is
ed

 5
/1

7/
20

24



Pursuant to NRS 354.600 (3), each (emphasis added) local government budget must obtain a

separate statement of anticipated expenses relating to activities designed to influence the passage 

or defeat of legislation in an upcoming legislative session.

1.  Activity: Session of the Nevada Legislature

2.  Funding Source: N/A

3.  Transportation $ -                                

4.  Lodging and meals $ -                                

5.  Salaries and Wages $ -                                

6.  Compensation to lobbyists $ -                                

7.  Entertainment $ -                                

8.  Supplies, equipment & facilities; other personnel and $ -                                

     services spent in Carson City

Total $ -                                

Entity: Airport Authority of Carson City, Nevada Budget Year 2024-2025

Page: ______
Schedule 30

L O B B Y I N G   E X P E N S E   E S T I M A T E

Nevada Legislature:  83rd Session; February 3, 2025 to June 3, 2025

FORM 4404LGF   Last Revised 5/17/2024



Lo
ca

l G
ov

er
nm

en
t: 

 A
irp

or
t A

ut
ho

rit
y 

of
 C

ar
so

n 
C

ity
, N

ev
ad

a
C

on
ta

ct
:  

Jo
n 

R
og

er
s

E-
m

ai
l A

dd
re

ss
:  

jro
ge

rs
@

fly
ca

rs
on

ci
ty

.c
om

D
ay

tim
e 

Te
le

ph
on

e:
  

77
5-

84
1-

22
55

   
   

   
   

 T
ot

al
 N

um
be

r o
f E

xi
st

in
g 

C
on

tra
ct

s:
 _

__
__

1_
__

__

Li
ne

Ve
nd

or

Ef
fe

ct
iv

e 
D

at
e 

of
 

C
on

tr
ac

t

Te
rm

in
at

io
n 

D
at

e 
of

 
C

on
tr

ac
t

Pr
op

os
ed

 
Ex

pe
nd

itu
re

 
FY

 2
02

4-
25

Pr
op

os
ed

 
Ex

pe
nd

itu
re

 
FY

 2
02

5-
26

R
ea

so
n 

or
 n

ee
d 

fo
r c

on
tr

ac
t: 

1
Ca

se
y 

N
ei
lo
n,

 I
nc

.
25

,0
00

$ 
  

  
  

25
,0

00
$ 

  
  

  
2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20

To
ta

l P
ro

po
se

d 
Ex

pe
nd

itu
re

s
25

,0
00

$ 
   

   
 

25
,0

00
$ 

   
   

 

Ad
di

tio
na

l E
xp

la
na

tio
ns

 (R
ef

er
en

ce
 L

in
e 

N
um

be
r a

nd
 V

en
do

r):
 

Pa
ge

: _
__

__
_

Sc
he

du
le

 3
1

SC
HE

DU
LE

 O
F 

EX
IS

TI
N

G 
CO

N
TR

AC
TS

Bu
dg

et
 Y

ea
r 2

02
4-

20
25

FO
R

M
 4

40
4L

G
F

  L
as

t R
ev

is
ed

 5
/1

7/
20

24



Lo
ca

l G
ov

er
nm

en
t: 

 A
irp

or
t A

ut
ho

rit
y 

of
 C

ar
so

n 
C

ity
, N

ev
ad

a
C

on
ta

ct
:  

Jo
n 

R
og

er
s

E-
m

ai
l A

dd
re

ss
:  

jro
ge

rs
@

fly
ca

rs
on

ci
ty

.c
om

D
ay

tim
e 

Te
le

ph
on

e:
  

77
5-

84
1-

22
55

   
   

To
ta

l N
um

be
r o

f P
riv

at
iz

at
io

n 
C

on
tra

ct
s:

 
0

Li
ne

Ve
nd

or

Ef
fe

ct
iv

e 
D

at
e 

of
 

C
on

tr
ac

t

Te
rm

in
at

io
n 

D
at

e 
of

 
C

on
tra

ct

D
ur

at
io

n 
(M

on
th

s/
 

Ye
ar

s)

Pr
op

os
ed

 
Ex

pe
nd

itu
re

 
FY

 2
02

4-
25

Pr
op

os
ed

 
Ex

pe
nd

itu
re

 
FY

 2
02

5-
26

Po
si

tio
n 

C
la

ss
 o

r 
G

ra
de

N
um

be
r o

f 
FT

Es
 

em
pl

oy
ed

 b
y 

Po
si

tio
n 

C
la

ss
 o

r 
G

ra
de

Eq
ui

va
le

nt
 

ho
ur

ly
 w

ag
e 

of
 F

TE
s 

by
 

Po
si

tio
n 

C
la

ss
 o

r 
G

ra
de

R
ea

so
n 

or
 n

ee
d 

fo
r 

co
nt

ra
ct

: 
1

N
on

e

2 3 4 5 6 7 8
To

ta
l 

Pa
ge

: _
__

__
_

At
ta

ch
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 s
he

et
s 

if 
ne

ce
ss

ar
y.

  
Sc

he
du

le
 3

2

SC
HE

DU
LE

 O
F 

PR
IV

AT
IZ

AT
IO

N
 C

O
N

TR
AC

TS
Bu

dg
et

 Y
ea

r 2
02

4-
20

25

FO
R

M
 4

40
4L

G
F

  L
as

t R
ev

is
ed

 5
/1

7/
20

24



____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo

CCAA BOARD MEMO Agenda Item: G-2

BOARD MEMO  2024-13   Meeting Date: May 21, 2024 

Agenda Title: FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: APPROVE A 
LEASE AMENDMENT FOR AT&T WIRELESS SERVICES, INC. FOR THE 
ADDITION AND MODIFICATION OF EQUIPMENT.

Staff Summary: AT&T would like to install some new equipment on the beacon 
tower and that will require an amended lease.

Agenda Action: Formal Action/Motion  Time Requested: 0 Minutes

Proposed Motion

I move to approve the amendment to the lease pending the completion of an 
Obstruction Evaluation Airport Airspace Analysis. 

CCAA’S Strategic Goal

Sustainable Infrastructure

Previous Action and Executive Summary

September 6, 2001 (Item 11) – The Board of Supervisors (“Board”) approved the 
Lease.

September 26, 2012 - The Airport Manager approved an amendment to the Lease 
for the addition and modification of equipment and to establish Cingular, AT &T's 
successor-in-interest, as the new tenant under the Lease.

February 15, 2024 (Item 9.a) – The Board approved a lease amendment for 
installation of new equipment and modify its existing equipment.



____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo 

The Lease was originally executed by Reno Cellular Telephone Company d/b/a 
AT&T Wireless Services ("AT&T") in 2001, then amended in 2012 and 2024 to 
allow equipment modifications in the leased area and assign to Cingular. The 
Lease term is automatically renewed every five years, unless terminated, with the 
final five-year renewal term expiring on September 5, 2031. The Amendment will 
allow Cingular to implement equipment changes in the leased area. 
 
Financial Information 
 
Is there a fiscal impact? 

 No    Yes 
 
If yes, account name/number & amount: 
 
General Fund/ Federal Share: 
  
Is it currently budgeted? 
 
Alternatives 
 
Do not approve. 
 
Board Action Taken: 
 
Motion: ____________________________ 1) _________________________     

2) _________________________      
 

Aye/Nay 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
___________________________ 
   (Vote Recorded By) 





























































2019 Amendment  

 
Market:  San Francisco / Sacramento / Reno      
Cell Site Number:  CVL06276 
Cell Site Name:  Hot Springs (NV)  
Fixed Asset Number:  10088507 

 
THIRD AMENDMENT TO LEASE AGREEMENT 

 
 

THIS THIRD AMENDMENT TO LEASE AGREEMENT (“Third Amendment”), dated 
as of the latter of the signature dates below, is by and between Carson City Airport Authority, a 
Quasi-municipal corporation, having a mailing address of 2600 College Parkway #6, Carson City, 
NV 89706 (“Landlord”) and New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company,  having a mailing address of 1025 Lenox Park Blvd NE, 3rd Floor, Atlanta, GA 30319 
(“Tenant”). 

 
 WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant entered into an Option and Lease Agreement dated 
September 6, 2001, as amended by that First Amendment To Lease Agreement dated September 
26, 2012, and as amended by that Second Amendment To Lease Agreement dated February 15, 
2024, whereby Landlord leased to Tenant certain Premises, therein described, that are a portion of 
the Property located at 2600 E. Graves Lane, Carson City, Nevada 89706 (collectively, the 
"Agreement"); and  
 
 WHEREAS, Tenant desires to exercise it’s rights in the permitted use section of the 
Agreement by constructing, installing, operating, maintaining, protecting and securing an 
additional microwave antenna with related equipment on the existing airport beacon tower, which 
Landlord is willing to approve; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desire to amend the Agreement to modify the permitted 
use section for wireless frequency usage; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant, in their mutual interest, wish to amend the Agreement 
as set forth below accordingly. 
  
 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Landlord and Tenant 
agree as follows: 
 
1. Permitted Use (Section 2a):  Landlord agrees to allow Tenant to construct, install, operate, 
maintain, protect and secure an additional microwave antenna with related equipment on the 
existing airport beacon tower as described on attached Exhibit 1-A.  Landlord’s execution of this 
Third Amendment will signify Landlord’s approval of Exhibit 1-A which will supplement Exhibit 
1 to the Agreement. 
 
2. Modification of Permitted Use (Section 2c): Tenant will continue to operate the 
Communication Facility in accordance with all FCC and FAA rules and regulations.  In addition 
to previously approved operating frequencies in the Agreement, Landlord agrees to grant Tenant 
the right to operate the Communications Facility with additional frequencies as detailed in Exhibit 



2019 Amendment  

2 to this Third Amendment.  In case of any modification to the range of frequencies listed on 
Exhibit 2 to this Third Amendment, Tenant will notify Landlord 45 days prior to the use of those 
frequencies.. 
 
3.  Other Terms and Conditions Remain. In the event of any inconsistencies between the 
Agreement and this Third Amendment, the terms of this Third Amendment shall control.  Except 
as expressly set forth in this Third Amendment, the Agreement otherwise is unmodified and 
remains in full force and effect.  Each reference in the Agreement to itself shall be deemed also to 
refer to this Third Amendment. 
 
4.  Capitalized Terms.  All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the same 
meanings as defined in the Agreement. 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Amendment to be effective as of the last 
date written below. 
 
LANDLORD: TENANT: 
Carson City Airport Authority New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC, 
a Quasi-municipal corporation,  a Delaware limited liability company 
the manager for Carson City  
A consolidated municipality By:  AT&T Mobility Corporation 
 Its:  Manager 
  
  
By:       By:       

 
Print Name:      Print Name:      

 
Its:       Its:       

 
Date:       Date:       



2019 Amendment

EXHIBIT 1-A

DESCRIPTION OF PREMISES
Page 1 of 8

to the Third Amendment To Lease Agreement dated ________________________, 2024, by 
and between Carson City Airport Authority, a Quasi-municipal corporation, as Landlord, and New 
Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC, as Tenant.

The Premises are described and/or depicted as follows:

Property Legal Description:  

See attached seven (7) pages of project drawings dated June 23, 2023, depicting the new 
microwave antenna with related equipment to be installed on the airport beacon tower.



2019 Amendment  

EXHIBIT 2 
 
 
 

Site Number: CVL06276 / CNU6276 
Site Name:  Hot Springs 
Address:  2600 College Parkway, #6, Carson City, NV  89706 
 
Tenant currently operates on the following transmit and receive frequencies: 
 
LTE 1900-1945-1965 MHz and 1865-1885 MHz 
LTE 700-740-746 MHz and 710-716 MHz 
LTE WCS 2350-2360 MHz and 2305-2315 MHz 
LTE AWS 2110-2140, 2160-2170 MHz and 1730-1740 MHz and 1760-1770 MHz 
 
Tenant plans to operate the following additional frequencies listed below pursuant to the Second 
Amendment To Lease Agreement: 
 
5G CBAND – 3840-3920 MHz 
 
Tenant plans to operate the following additional frequencies listed below pursuant to the Third 
Amendment To Lease Agreement: 
 
25,155 MHz and 24,975 MHz frequencies for transmitting and receiving purposes. 
 

















____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo

CCAA BOARD MEMO Agenda Item: H-1

BOARD MEMO  2024-14   Meeting Date: May 21, 2024 

Agenda Title: FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: APPROVE THE 
PROPOSED PARCEL MAP AND THE SEPARATION OF THE FIRE
DEPARTMENT LAND (PARCEL 2) FROM THE AIRPORT PARCEL 
(PARCEL 1).

Staff Summary: The city would like to separate the fire department land from the
airport parcel. Prior to the formation of the Airport Authority under NRS 844, the
fire department area and Airport area overlapped. This Action is to correct the
parcels so that the fire department is not on the Airport but remains City property 
adjacent to the Airport. The Fire Department area is already excluded on the 
Airport Master Plan and the Airport Layout Plan.

Agenda Action: Formal Action/Motion  Time Requested: 15 Minutes

Proposed Motion

I move to approve the proposed parcel map and the separation of the fire 
department parcel from the airport.

CCAA’S Strategic Goal

Maintain airport infrastructure in top condition.

Previous Action and Executive Summary

Separating the two parcels will better delineate the fire department training area 
from the airport.  The Airport Manager and the airport on call engineering 
consultant have reviewed the proposed changes and do not see any problems with 
the parcel changes as presented.  There was some previous discussion to get it to 
this point.  



____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo 

Financial Information 
 
Is there a fiscal impact? 

 No    Yes 
 
If yes, account name/number & amount: 
 
General Fund/ Federal Share: 
  
Is it currently budgeted? 
 
Alternatives 
 
Do not approve. 
 
Board Action Taken: 
 
Motion: ____________________________ 1) _________________________     

2) _________________________      
 

Aye/Nay 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
___________________________ 
   (Vote Recorded By) 



From: Brian Martinezmoles
To: Corey Jenkins
Cc: Dean Schultz
Subject: RE: Parcel Map
Date: Friday, April 12, 2024 11:15:49 AM

Corey,
 
Following up on our conversation. Upon review of the proposed parcel map it appears that Parcel 2,
as proposed, is entirely outside the airport property limits as shown on the approved Airport Layout
Plan. The FAA authority over airport property is reflected on the FAA approved ALP, and given that
this parcel 2 is outside the ALP limits we do not foresee any issues with the FAA.
 
Thanks,
 

Brian Martinezmoles, PE | Principal Engineer
 
Wood Rodgers, Inc. | www.woodrodgers.com |
775.823.5240 Direct
775.671.4972 Mobile
bmartinezmoles@WoodRodgers.com

 
 
From: Corey Jenkins <cJenkins@flycarsoncity.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 10, 2024 1:28 PM
To: Brian Martinezmoles <bmartinezmoles@WoodRodgers.com>
Cc: Dean Schultz <DSchultz@WoodRodgers.com>
Subject: RE: Parcel Map
 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when
opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

Brian,
 
Any update on this, I would like to put the on the April Agenda that I am working on.
 
Thanks,
 
Corey Jenkins, ACE
Airport Manager
Carson City Airport
2600 College Parkway #6
Carson City, NV 89706
775-841-2255









____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo

CCAA BOARD MEMO Agenda Item: H-2

BOARD MEMO  2024-15 Meeting Date: May 21, 2024 

Agenda Title: FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: APPROVE A
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING WITH THE FEDERAL AVIATION
ADMINISTRATION (FAA) FOR THE INSTALLATION OF FAA WEATHER
CAMERAS ON THE AIRPORT OWNED AUTOMATED WEATHER
OBSERVATION SYSTEM (AWOS) TOWER.

Staff Summary: When wildfire smoke is present at the airport, the AWOS 
visibility sensor reports visibility incorrectly. The FAA Weather Camera system 
will provide pilots with visual references so they can determine visibility during 
any conditions that will affect visibility. The Memorandum of Understanding is to
allow the FAA to mount the cameras on the AWOS tower.

Agenda Action: Formal Action/Motion Time Requested: 15 Minutes

Proposed Motion

I move to approve the proposed Memorandum of understanding with the FAA for 
the installation of FAA Weather cameras on the AWOS tower.

CCAA’S Strategic Goal

Provide for the safety and security of airport users.

Previous Action and Executive Summary

In the summer of 2021, Carson City was engulfed in wildfire smoke from nearby 
wildfires.  During the heavy smoke, it was determined that the AWOS was not 
reporting visibility correctly. The AWOS measures visibility based on moisture, 
not solid particles like that make up smoke.  Already being aware of the FAA’s 
plans to develop an aviation weather camera system for airports, the Airport 



____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo 

Manager and board member Hamilton began the process of contacting the FAA to 
request them to install the new system at Carson City Airport.  The FAA was 
already implementing test sites in Colorado at the time, but they put us on their list 
to be considered for the system following the test sites in Colorado.  This 
Memorandum of Understanding will make CXP one of the first airports in Nevada 
to get this new system.  It will also make sure that Pilots have a tool available to 
them to formally determine visibility, even during wildfire smoke events.   
 
Financial Information 
 
Is there a fiscal impact? 

 No    Yes 
 
If yes, account name/number & amount: 
 
General Fund/ Federal Share: 
  
Is it currently budgeted? 
 
Alternatives 
 
Do not approve. 
 
Board Action Taken: 
 
Motion: ____________________________ 1) _________________________     

2) _________________________      
 

Aye/Nay 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
___________________________ 
   (Vote Recorded By) 



MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN 

THE FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION 

AND 

CARSON CITY AIRPORT AUTHORITY 

690EG4-24-L-00045   
 

1. Parties 

The parties to this Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) are the Federal Aviation 
Administration (“FAA”) and the Carson City Airport Authority, (“the Airport”). 

2. Objectives 

The objective of this MOU is to describe the responsibilities for the installation and operations of 
an FAA weather camera site at the Carson City Airport, Nevada. 

Latitude: N39.190330  

Longitude: W119.729820 

3. Responsibilities of the Parties 

FAA: Accomplish all installation, maintenance, and operation activities. 

(a) Description: The Carson City Automated Weather Observing Station (AWOS) was chosen 
as the best option.  

(b) Space and facilities: The cameras will be mounted near the top of an existing 20-foot free 
standing ROHN 45G tower to obtain the pilot views requested. The camera control unit (CCU) 
and the lightening arrestor unit (LAU) would be mounted near the base of the tower. Ample 
space is available for the cameras and all supporting electronics. AC power is currently 
available from a nearby circuit breaker panel. Power for the cameras and networking equipment 
would be fed from a dedicated breaker in the panel or nearby electrical outlet.  

4. Funding 

No funds are obligated under this MOU.  Each party shall bear the full cost it incurs in 
performing, managing, and administering its responsibilities under this MOU. 

5. Warranties 

Neither the FAA nor the Airport makes any express or implied warranty as to any matter arising 
under this MOU. 
 
 



 
 
6. Protection of Confidential/Privileged Information 

Each party shall take appropriate measures to protect proprietary, privileged or otherwise 
confidential information obtained as a result of its activities under this MOU. 

7. Construction 

The parties understand and agree that this Memorandum of Understanding does not confer any 
legal rights, duties or obligations on either party and is not subject to dispute in any forum.  
Neither party is authorized or empowered to act on behalf of the other with regards to any 
matter, and neither party shall be bound by the acts or conduct of the other in connection with 
any activity under this MOU.  This provision shall survive termination of this MOU. 

8. Effective Date/Term/Termination 

This MOU shall be effective on the date of the last signature of the parties and shall remain in 
force until terminated by mutual agreement or unilaterally by either party upon 30 days notice to 
the other party. 

9. Changes / Modifications 

Changes and/or modifications to this Understanding shall be in writing and signed by both 
parties. 

Carson City Airport Authority              Federal Aviation Administration 
2600 College Parkway Ave                                Real Estate Specialized Acquisitions Branch 
Carson City, Nevada 89706              2200 S. 216th Street 
                                                                             Des Moines, WA 98198 

10. Authority 

The authority for this MOU is 49 U.S.C. 106 (f)(2)(A) and 106(/) and (m). 

_______________________________  _______________________________ 
 
By: __________________________                         By: __________________________ 

Title: __________________________                Title: Real Estate Contracting Officer   

Date: __________________________  Date:__________________________ 



____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo 

CCAA BOARD MEMO Agenda Item: H-3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
BOARD MEMO  2024-16   Meeting Date: May 21, 2024 
 
Agenda Title: FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: APPROVE THE 
AGREEMENT TO EXTEND TIME AND AVOID LEASE TERMINATION 
WITH CARSON TAHOE EXECUTIVE, LLC (CTE). 
 
Staff Summary: CTE has made a considerable effort to develop the parcels APN 
005-02-105 and 005-02-106 according to the agreement to postpone or avoid lease 
termination. More time than what was originally allotted is required to 
accommodate their development plans. Approving the additional time is mutually 
beneficial for CTE and the Airport. 
 
Agenda Action: Formal Action/Motion  Time Requested: 15 Minutes 
 
 
Proposed Motion 
 
I move to approve the agreement to extend time and avoid lease termination with 
Carson Tahoe Executive.  
 
CCAA’S Strategic Goal 
 
Maintain financial stability. 
Support economic activity in the region. 
 
Previous Action and Executive Summary 
 
September 4, 2008 (Item 3-1) – The Carson City Board of Supervisors approved 
the original lease and an assignment to KCXP Investments, LLC. 
 
November 16, 2022 (Item H-1) – The Carson City Airport Authority approved a 
notice of default for KCXP Investments, LLC for failure to develop the land in 
accordance with the lease. 



____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo 

 
February 15, 2023 (Item H-1) – The Carson City Airport Authority approved an 
agreement with KCXP Investments to avoid default.   
 
September 20, 2023 (Item H-2) – The Carson City Airport Authority approved an 
assignment of the lease and the agreement to avoid default to Carson Tahoe 
Executive.   
 
When the Airport Authority moved the fuel island in 2008, it moved the hangar 
storage portion of that lease to an open area along Taxiway C. Per an agreement 
between the fuel tenant and Tom Gonzales, the Authority approved an assignment 
of that lease to KCXP Investments, LLC. The lease required that the construction 
of hangars be completed within 2 years. The real estate market had a steep 
downturn shortly after and Mr. Gonzales appeared before the Authority to request 
some leniency on the 2-year requirement, so the Authority told him he could have 
a few more years to construct. Over the years, requests have been made to Mr. 
Gonzales to follow through with hangar construction. In December of 2021, the 
Airport Manager sent a letter notifying Mr. Gonzales that action would be taken to 
terminate the lease unless he moved ahead with hangar construction as required by 
the lease. In January of 2022, Mr. Robert Reid, a hangar manager for KCXP 
Investments, LLC, contacted the Airport Manager and told him they were working 
on a development plan with other parties. The airport authority decided to grant 
additional time for construction with conditions that include quarterly updates and 
a non-refundable deposit. 
 
Carson Tahoe Executive has demonstrated they are working diligently to develop 
the parcel.  More time is required for them to complete their plans and to meet all 
the requirements to develop the new hangars.  Following negotiations with Airport 
Staff and Legal Counsel, the Agreement to Extend time will allow for construction 
plans to be submitted to the CCAA and governmental offices for approval by 
December 1, 2024, and all construction will be completed within 18 months 
thereafter, i.e. by May 1, 2026.  Allowing the additional time will ultimately be the 
best solution for the airport.  
 
Financial Information 
 
Is there a fiscal impact? 
☒ No   ☐ Yes 
 
If yes, account name/number & amount: 



____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo 

 
General Fund/ Federal Share: 
  
Is it currently budgeted? 
 
Alternatives 
 
Do not approve. 
 
Board Action Taken: 
 
Motion: ____________________________ 1) _________________________     

2) _________________________      
 

Aye/Nay 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
___________________________ 
   (Vote Recorded By) 



  Page 1 of 2 

APN 005-02-105, 005-02-106  
Corey Jenkins, Airport Manager  
2600 E. College Parkway #6  
Carson City, NV 89706  
 

AGREEMENT TO EXTEND TIME; AVOID LEASE 
TERMINATION; CARSON CITY AIRPORT AND 

CARSON TAHOE EXECUTIVE, LLC; Taxiway C lease 

This Agreement between the CARSON CITY AIRPORT AUTHORITY (“CCAA”), whose 
address is 2600 E. College Parkway #6 Carson City, Nevada 89706, and CARSON TAHOE 
EXECUTIVE, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company (“Tenant”), whose address is 3700 Barron 
Way, Suite 2, Reno, NV 89511, is made to document the agreement reached at the meeting of the 
CCAA on May 21, 2024 during which the CCAA and Tenant agreed as follows:  

CCAA will extend the time regarding the deadlines to avoid the Termination of Tenant’s 
Taxiway C Lease which is held under document Nos. 382385 recorded September 5, 2008 
(underlying lease), and 543528 recorded November 17, 2023 (assignment to Tenant) upon the 
following terms:  

1. Tenant will proceed with plans to construct a hangar system on the leasehold, and 
provide written progress reports quarterly to the Airport Manager showing good faith 
progress by Tenant.  

2. Tenant will complete construction plans and submit them to the CCAA and 
governmental offices for approval by December 1, 2024, subject to Force Majeure below. 

3. Tenant will complete all construction within 18 months thereafter, i.e. by May 1, 2026. 

4. Force Majeure: The construction plan filing and commencement deadlines shall be  
extended for such period of time as construction is prevented or delayed due to strikes, labor  
disputes, supply chain/vendor delays, fire, earthquake, floods and other out of the ordinary actions 
of the elements, pandemic,  enemy invasion, wars, insurrection, sabotage, laws, orders or actions 
of governmental, civil or  military authorities, governmental restrictions, riot, civil commotion and 
unavoidable casualty (an  “Excusable Delay”). Tenant shall provide CCAA with written notice 
within 5 days of such event causing the prevention of Tenant’s ability to meet the deadline.  

            Absent an Excusable Delay and notice to CCAA, in the event that the Tenant fails to provide 
the progress reports or meet the construction deadlines (plans and construction), the lease will 
terminate. 
 
 
 
 
 



  Page 2 of 2 

 
 
_______________________________  __________________________________ 
COREY JENKINS, Airport Manager          JAMES PICKETT, CARSON TAHOE 

 EXECUTIVE, LLC.  
Dated __________________                        Dated ________________  

CCAA Approved at May 21, 2024 Meeting:  

 

_____________________________  
TIM PULIZ, Chairman  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
May 21, 2024 

 
 

Carson City Airport Manager’s Report Prepared by Corey Jenkins 
 
Managers’ Report 
 

 Crack Seal Project 
o The connector between Bravo and Delta and a small section along Carson 

Executive Hangar Association are remaining.  
 ACIP Meetings and Planning 

o Coffman and Associates has prepared a letter to send to the FAA providing them 
with the data supporting the runway extension from the Master Plan and Letters 
of Support. 

o We have requested a follow-up meeting with the FAA 
 The tentative budget. 

o We had to make some formatting corrections that are included in the final budget. 
 Carson City Chamber Leadership Institute 

o The Amphitheater project is complete. 
o We had a tour of the City and State emergency operations centers and dispatch.  

Learning more about the specifics of those operations at the City and State will be 
helpful in the event of a large emergency in the area. 

 Airport Operations and Fuel 
 Updated operations and fuel numbers will be included at next month’s 

meeting. 
 The streetlights in the south parking lot have been converted to solar lights and are now 

operational. 
 The disabled aircraft on the south ramp has been moved to a hangar and will be removed 

from the airport soon. 
 An additional report from Airport Operations is attached. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Fuel Flowage 
 

Total 
  Self-Serve Full-Service Total Combined % Change 

Month 100LL Jet A 100LL Jet A Gallons 
Fuel 

Flowage Fee 
Annual 
Change 

January-24 5932 1389 2655 10751 20727  $  1,036.36  97% 
February-24 6355 637 1343 13511 21847  $  1,092.34  12% 

March-24 7206 353 2737 13374.9 23670  $  1,183.51  52% 
April-24 0 0 0 0 0  $              -    -100% 
May-24 0 0 0 0 0  $              -    -100% 
June-24 0 0 0 0 0  $              -    -100% 
July-24 0 0 0 0 0  $              -    -100% 

August-24 0 0 0 0 0  $              -    -100% 
September-24 0 0 0 0 0  $              -    -100% 

October-24 0 0 0 0 0  $              -    -100% 
November-24 0 0 0 0 0  $              -    -100% 
December-24 0 0 0 0 0  $              -    -100% 

 
Aircraft Operations 
 

2024 ADS-B Airport Operations 

Month Arrivals Departures 
Total 

Operations 
Annual 
Change 

January-24 1457 1483 2940 32% 
February-24 1295 1265 2560 -27% 

March-24 1238 1242 2480 0% 
April-24 0 0 0 -100% 
May-24 0 0 0 -100% 
June-24 0 0 0 -100% 
July-24 0 0 0 -100% 

August-24 0 0 0 -100% 
September-24 0 0 0 -100% 

October-24 0 0 0 -100% 
November-24 0 0 0 -100% 
December-24 0 0 0 -100% 

Total Annual 3990 3990 7980 -87% 
 



May 5, 2024 

CARSON CITY AIRPORT 

RESULTS OF ADDITIONAL OPERATIONS/AIRFIELD MAINTENACE STAFF AND 
MODIFIED WORK SCHEDULE. 

In September 2023, an addi onal opera ons/airfield maintenance technician (Cody Puchalski) was hired 
at the Carson City Airport.  The intent was not only to increase staff available for ops/maintenance du es, but also 
to extend the days and hours of ops/maintenance staff presence at the airport.  On April 8th, 2024, a er 
comple ng six months of training in all areas of airport opera ons and airfield maintenance, Cody (and Rick Lee) 
began working a 4-day, 10-hour work schedule with Rick working Sunday through Wednesday and Cody working 
Wednesday through Saturday (7am to 5:30pm each day). 

From the onset, having a second ops/maintenance technician has proven to be beneficial to the Airport.  
In addi on to receiving daily training, Cody assisted with ongoing maintenance at the airport.  Many projects that 
had been deferred for more cri cal maintenance were completed.  A few examples follow:  Repainted large 
“Carson City Airport” sign in the southeast gravel area along College Parkway.  Damaged handicap parking signs in 
the terminal parking lot were repaired and re-installed.  Wildlife dig barriers were installed along the north fence 
line between gate 4 and the northeast corner of the perimeter fence.  Repair of erosion damage to the perimeter 
fence line along the north side of taxiway Charlie.  Asphalt milling installa on around airfield lights and signs (48 
lights and 9 signs to date).  Cody has been trained to operate all snow removal equipment currently on hand and 
assisted with snow removal on four snow events during the 2023-2024 snow season.  Addi onally, Cody has 
assisted with 3 airfield incidents that involved disabled aircra  on the runway or taxiways. 

The new work schedule was ini ated as airport ops/maintenance staff began its vegeta on control for the 
season.  Cody has assisted with large area and spot spraying of pre and post emergent herbicides resul ng in 
comple on far earlier than past seasons.  The most apparent improvement has been the progress made mowing 
the infield areas of the airport.  In the period from April 8th to May 5th, both sides of the runway infield have been 
mowed full length to include the areas around the blast pads, the south side of taxiway Alpha full length and the 
north side of Alpha between A1 and A3.  This progress is easily one month ahead of previous years with one 
ops/maintenance technician.  This progress will allow for addi onal mowing in undeveloped areas of the airport 
that have not been done recently or at all and more mely follow up mowing on infield areas to keep up with 
regrowth as the season progresses.  

Another goal of hiring an addi onal ops/maintenance employee and implemen ng the new schedule was 
to have more me available for Rick to be more involved with project management.  Since October 2023 he has 
coordinated with the airport manager and contractors for project site evalua ons, receipt of bids, scheduling 
project work dates, and ac va on of NOTAMs as required during the projects.  Projects worked on to date are the 
repair of ligh ng on the south ramp (December 2023), crack sealing taxiways Bravo and Charlie full length 
(March/April 2024) and the installa on of solar LED ligh ng for the terminal parking lot (projected comple on 
May 30th, 2024).  In addi on, Rick con nues to coordinate with contractors for the Echo-Delta (Or z) hangars, and 
the new hangar construc on along the east side of taxiway Bravo to assist with gate access and ensure 
compliance with FAA and airport regula ons regarding vehicle/equipment opera on, FOD clean up, and 
pavement closures or NOTAMs as needed during the project.    

Moving forward, the safety, func onality and overall appearance of the airport will con nue to improve as 
a result of the addi onal staff and modified work schedule. 


	Agenda
	Draft Minutes
	Engineer's Report
	G-1 Final Budget
	G-2 ATT Lease Amendment
	H-1 Fire Department
	H-2 FAA Cameras
	H-3 CTE Agreement
	Manager's Report



